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Map of Andrew Jenson’s expedition through Latin America.



Sutter’s Sawmill, Coloma, 1849. Bancroft Library.
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CHAPTER 130

“Jenson’s Travels, Excerpts from the Journal of 
Andrew Jenson on His Journey to the Pacific 
Coast, Central America, South America, and 
Other Parts of the Western World,” 
January 25, 19231

Placerville, El dorado County, California

I have done service as a correspondent to the Deseret News 
since 1873, when I left my home in Utah to �ll my �rst mis-
sion to Scandinavia.2 I was then only twenty-two years old; 
now I am �fty years older.3

I am starting out on what may perhaps be my last long 
journey in mortality, and I feel impressed on this occasion to 
write to our Church organ4 an account of my travels in journal 
form and give a sample of how the world looks through the 

1. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, February 3, 1923, 12.
2. Andrew Jenson (1850–1941), a Danish-American member of the Church, 

immigrated to Utah in 1866 and served the �rst of �ve missions to his 
native Denmark, 1873–75. See Jenson, Autobiography, 66–86.

3. Jenson, later known as the “most traveled man in the Church,” sailed for 
South America at age seventy-two, nineteen years before his death in 
November 1941. See “Andrew Jenson Returns from 30,000 Mile Trip,” Salt 
Lake Telegram, August 14, 1935, 16.

4. �e Deseret News was the �rst newspaper published in the Territory of 
Utah, with its �rst issue printed in June 1850. As an o�cial organ of the 
Church, the News included Latter-day Saint–related stories, messages, 
and reports as well as other local and national news. At times the Deseret 
News was a weekly (1850–89) and a semiweekly (1889–1922), but by the 
time Jenson left for South America, the newspaper was a daily. See Holley, 
Utah’s Newspapers, 11–15.

eyes and understanding of a Mormon elder of advanced years 
and how a man after having had all kinds of experience and 
endured hardships and disappointments is still clinging with 
a �rm grip to the “faith once delivered to the Saints.”5

I have in past years traveled extensively as a missionary and 
historian for the Church,6 have visited many lands and climes, 
and have circumnavigated7 the globe twice; and, after making 
this tour on which I am now starting to Central and South 
America, I shall feel that I have had enough and that I shall be 
satis�ed to spend the remainder of my years in the gathering 
places of the Saints; and I trust that I, with my knowledge of 
good and evil and right and wrong, may be enabled to impress 
the young and rising generation of Latter-day Saints with 

5. See Jude 1:3: “Beloved, when I gave all diligence to write unto you of the 
common salvation, it was needful for me to write unto you, and exhort you 
that ye should earnestly contend for the faith which was once delivered unto 
the saints.”

6. Jenson worked as a part-time employee with the Historian’s O�ce in Salt 
Lake City, 1886–97. He later served as assistant Church historian, 1897–
1941. See Jenson, Autobiography, 140, 389. See also Bitton and Arrington, 
Mormons and �eir Historians, 41–54.

7. Jenson traveled around the world on two occasions, once on a special mis-
sion for the Historian’s O�ce (1895–97) and again on his way home from 
presiding over the Scandinavian Mission (1912–13). See Neilson and 
Mo�at, Tales from the World Tour. For an account of Jenson’s 1912–13 
journey through Europe, Russia, and Japan, then back to Salt Lake City, 
see Jenson, Autobiography, 495–511. Jenson’s 1923 visit to Latin America 
is discussed in Justin R. Bray and Reid L. Neilson, “Looking Beyond the 
Borders of Mexico: Historian Andrew Jenson and the Opening of Mormon 
Missionary Work in Latin America,” Mormon Historical Studies 14, no. 2 
(Fall 2013): 1–27.
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faith-inspiring inspirations or that which will make them 
wise unto salvation.8

Monday, 8January 22. I bade farewell to my family and 
dear ones in the city which I love—love it because it is the place 
where many of the faithful sons and daughters of God reside 
and where my own domicile has been located for upwards 
of forty years.9 With Elder �omas P. Page,10 of Riverton, 
Utah, as a traveling companion, I left Salt Lake City at 1:00 

8. See Doctrine and Covenants 69:8: “Preaching and expounding, writing, 
copying, selecting, and obtaining all things which shall be for the good of 
the church, and for the rising generations that shall grow up on the land of 
Zion, to possess it from generation to generation, forever and ever. Amen.”

9. In 1882 Jenson moved from the southern part of Salt Lake Valley to a two-
story home a few blocks north of Temple Square, within the boundaries of 
the Salt Lake 17th Ward. �ere he built a secured vault with custom shelv-
ing for his large personal library and study. See Jenson, Autobiography, 228.

10. �omas Phillips Page (1850–1933) was a fellow Latter-day Saint world trav-
eler and student of history. After growing up in London, England, he con-
verted to �e Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints in 1871, immigrated 
to Utah Territory, and became a pioneer settler of Carbon County. Page even-
tually moved to Riverton, Utah, in southern Salt Lake County, where he was 
a successful merchant, surveyor, and farmer. He also served in a number of 
civil o�ces, including coroner of Emery County (1886–91) and justice of the 
peace in Riverton (1895–98). He later ful�lled two missionary assignments 
to Turkey and other parts of the Middle East (1899–1901, 1908). Page was 
an avid traveler and made a trip around the world from 1911 to 1912, visit-
ing countries like Japan, China, the Philippines, Burma, India, Egypt, France, 
and England. In 1922, the year before the Jenson-Page expedition to South 
America, Page traveled along the west coast of Central America on a vacation 
to Cuba. Because Andrew Jenson was to travel to South America on his own 
money, Page, who wished to visit Inca ruins, paid their way to and from the 
Southern Cone. See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 2:318.

p.m. on a Western Paci�c train for California.11 After parting 
with relatives and friends at the railway depot,12 we enjoyed 
the ride across the southern extremity of the Great Salt Lake. 
When the railroad was �rst built, the grade was hugging the 
shore of the Great Salt Lake very closely, but now, as the water 
in the lake has risen several feet, a strip of water of consid-
erable width separates the roadbed from the south shore of 
the great inland sea. Tooele Valley, with its settlements on the 
south and the lake and Church Island on the north, caused 
the passengers to look �rst in one direction and then in the 
other with continued interest—the lake, of course, being very 
closely observed by those who have not seen it before. On such 
occasions a Mormon elder can easily become popular with his 
fellow passengers, who are usually in the proper mood to lis-
ten to his explanations of Utah and the Mormons.

After passing a mountain point, we obtained a broad view 
of Skull Valley, in which there are now only a few scattered 

11. Jenson had asked for First Presidency approval to put his work in the Church 
Historian’s O�ce on hold and take the long-anticipated trip to South 
America, but President Heber J. Grant never gave his full consent. �e day 
Jenson left, he wrote: “I was somewhat uneasy because President Grant had 
only given partial approval of my trip and had acted strangely in the matter 
by sending an ambiguous telegram to President [Anthony W.] Ivins from 
California. President Ivins, however, advised me to go as planned, as it was 
perhaps only from a �nancial standpoint that the President objected.” See 
Jenson diary, January 22, 1923, 267.

12. Jenson left from the Rio Grande Depot in Salt Lake City, where two of his 
sons (Harold and Alvin) and two of his daughters (Eva and Martha) came 
to see him o�. See Jenson diary, January 22, 1923, 266.
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animals and wagons in the mud and be thankful to reach the 
western edge of the desert alive. But after the loss of so many 
animals, the company could travel only very slowly; and after 
reaching the Sierra Nevada Mountains, they were caught in 
terri�c snowstorms, and nearly half of them perished before 
help could reach them from California. �is is known in his-
tory as the Donner Party tragedy, Captain [George] Donner 
being leader of that part of the Hastings company.15

Traveling in up-to-date Pullman cars,16 we experienced no 
hardship in crossing this desert. We soon reached Wendover, 
situated on the boundary line between Utah and Nevada. 
�e main town is in Utah, but the Nevada part has a most 
unsavory reputation for bootlegging.17 If the Nevada people 
engaged in that unlawful tra�c �nd themselves in danger of 
being caught by the o�cers, they �ee to Utah for protection.

Leaving Wendover, we traveled a long distance in sight of 
Pilot’s Peak, which is sometimes called the Fuji of Nevada,18 

15. In June 1847, still-serving members of the Mormon Battalion escorting 
General Stephen W. Kearney and Captain John C. Frémont across the 
California Trail discovered and buried the cannibalized remains of mem-
bers of the Donner Party. See Landon and Metcalf, History of the Saints, 71.

16. Pullman cars were railroad sleeping cars and operated on most railroads 
throughout the United States, 1867–1968. See Welsh, Howes, and 
Holland, Cars of Pullman, 6.

17. Prohibition, a ban on the manufacture and sale of alcohol, was a federal law 
of the United States from 1920 to 1933. Some who opposed the injunc-
tion, known as bootleggers or rumrunners, secretly smuggled alcohol into 

“speakeasies,” underground saloons and bars. See Hogan, “Prohibition,” in 
Smith, Encyclopedia of Food and Drink, 2:321–23.

18. Mount Fuji, the tallest mountain in Japan, is over 12,300 feet high. �e 

ranches. �e Hawaiian settlement Iosepa, which was founded 
with a view to make it a gathering place for the Hawaiian 
Saints, has long ago been abandoned.13 �e climate in Skull 
Valley was not suitable for the Polynesians, who had been 
used to the mild, continuous summer weather of the tropical 
islands of the Paci�c.

In crossing the low mountain range west of Skull Valley, we 
look across the great salt desert towards the majestic moun-
tain called Pilot Peak in Nevada.14 We remember then the ill-
fated Hastings company who crossed that desert in 1846. As 
we looked at Pilot Peak from the top of the ridge west of Skull 
Valley, that mountain seemed only a few miles away, though 
the real distance is about eighty miles. As these immigrants 
were from the east, they knew not that the clear sky, the thin air, 
and the desert itself were most deceiving to the eye of strang-
ers out early one morning hoping to cross the desert in a few 
hours. �ey might have crossed it in two days had not a rain 
storm turned the hard, crusted desert surface into soft, sticky 
mud, which clung so tenaciously to the wagon wheels and the 
feet of men and horses that they could scarcely move at all. �e 
consequence was that the emigrants had to leave many of their 

13. Iosepa, located in Utah’s Skull Valley, was a colony settled by Hawaiian 
members of the Church who had emigrated in 1889. �e city had been 
abandoned in 1917. See Jenson, Encyclopedic History of the Church, 365–66. 
See also Kester, “Race, Religion, and Citizenship,” 51–76.

14. Pilot Peak is the highest point of the Pilot Mountain Range in north-
eastern Nevada. Historically, the mount has been a recognizable land-
mark for those traveling through the Great Basin. See Merriam-Webster’s 
Geographical Dictionary, 3rd ed., 931.
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to hunt for in San Francisco, could be obtained much more 
easily and more completely in Sacramento, where about three 
hundred thousand volumes of choice literature are safely and 
conveniently housed in the state capitol. �e library occupies 
an entire wing of the great building from basement to gar-
ret, and there is a special collection of California literature in 
charge of Miss Eudora Garoutte, who rendered me all possi-
ble assistance in my work.19

Wednesday, January 24. I continued my labors in the 
state library in Sacramento. A special program and parade 
had been planned by a special committee in memory of the 
discovery of gold on the American River January 24, 1848, just 
seventy-�ve years ago today, but the rain interfered very much 
with the preparations and the carrying out of the details of the 
program. A few hundred people, however, gathered in front of 
the capitol and listened to a short speech by the governor of 
California [Friend W. Richardson], after which a small pro-
cession, headed by Harry A. Peterson, Esq., marched through 
some of the streets and put markers on several buildings of 
historical interest. In the procession there were a number of 
men (members of the Sacramento Whiskers Club),20 women, 
and children dressed in the styles of 1848, or rather clothed as 

19. Jenson and Page stayed at the Sacramento Hotel and paid �ve dollars a 
night for the room. See Jenson diary, January 23, 1923, 267–68.

20. �e Sacramento Whiskers Club commemorated the gold rush between 
1922 and 1923. Members of the club, called Whiskerinos, dressed and 
groomed themselves in the style of the gold rush era and participated in the 
weeklong “Days of ’49” celebration. See Avella, Sacramento, 88.

as it in form somewhat resembles the “sacred mountain” of 
that name in Japan. Darkness overtook us as we crossed a 
high summit and descended into the historic Steptoe Valley.

Tuesday, January 23. Having traveled all night, we found 
ourselves early in the morning traveling down the pictur-
esque Feather River Canyon, which is 116 miles long, and in 
that distance the train descends from an elevation of nearly 
�ve thousand feet to nearly sea level. In the upper end of the 
canyon, the mountains were covered with deep snow, while 
at the lower end, where Oroville is situated, the green �elds 
and early spring verdure greet the eye and almost suggest the 
thought of having reached another world.

�e frequent or continuous rain in the great Sacramento 
Valley has caused swollen streams everywhere. Many of the 
farms and meadows were seen partly covered with water, and 
as the rain still continued, everything seemed clammy and 
cold. We arrived safely at Sacramento at 1:00 p.m., where we 
were met by Mr. Harry Peterson, a California state o�cial, 
and were conducted to a hotel. We found Sacramento, which 
now has a population of about eighty thousand inhabitants, a 
very busy city indeed. �e state legislature is in session and all 
seemed bustle and hurry, notwithstanding the rain.

Soon after our arrival in Sacramento, I was busily engaged 
in research work in the magni�cent state library and soon 
learned that certain historical information, which I expected 

conical, symmetrical, snowcapped peak is a sacred symbol of Japan and is 
one of the hallmarks of the island country. See Geographical Dictionary, 406.
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animals, and not only could he handle them in almost every 
conceivable way without “danger,” but he assured us that we, 
as strangers, could do the same. We accepted his invitation to 
do so with a degree of reluctance, and not until he had assured 
us that the pets were in good humor and well behaved did we 
allow them to crawl around our necks and otherwise receive 
our caresses. It is the �rst time I have handled a skunk, and it 
may perhaps be the last.

Mr. Fairchild told us of an amusing incident which hap-
pened in San Francisco quite recently when he was permitted 
to take his pets into a �rst-class San Francisco hotel where 
even dogs of every description were debarred from entry. 
Mr. Fairchild explained how the guests at the hotel at �rst 
sight of the skunks �ed in all directions but how they soon 
returned one by one and found themselves on the very best of 
terms with the little striped creatures, who exhibited unusual 
a�ection for all, especially the ladies. Tomorrow morning 
we go to Coloma, the place where gold was �rst discovered 
January 24, 1848.

“Jenson’s Travels,” January 26, 192322

Mormon Island, California

Thursday, January 25. Early in the morning, in com-
pany with Elder Page, I left Placerville (in the earlier days 
called Hangtown) and traveled about ten miles over a hilly 

22. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, February 10, 1923, 7.

the miners and their families were garbed when gold was �rst 
discovered in California seventy-�ve years ago.

Both before and after leaving the capitol an old man, a 
mountaineer, personifying a pioneer �ddler of 1848, enter-
tained the crowd by playing melodies of long ago. �e children 
who participated in the parade and who were dressed to suit 
the occasion showed much enthusiasm and seemed to enjoy 
the occasion immensely. �e so-called Whiskers Club (not 
Whiskey Club) incorporated under the laws of California was 
organized last year at the 1849 celebration for the purpose of 
perpetuating the history, romance, and memories of the his-
toric days of 1849. �e governor of the state, many of the state 
senators and representatives, congressmen, etc., are members 
of this club, which is the only organization of its kind in the 
whole world.

Today at 3:00 p.m. Elder Page and I boarded a local train 
and traveled sixty miles through a country abounding in 
vineyards and fertile �elds to Placerville, El Dorado County, 
where we are stopping overnight.21 Placerville, containing 
2,500 inhabitants, is an old mining town situated in a hollow 
of the foothills near the base of the Sierra Nevada Mountains 
at an elevation of 1,830 feet above the level of the sea. In 
the evening we were invited by Leon Fairchild, a druggist of 
Placerville, to visit his father’s home, where a number of pet 
skunks are cared for like so many pet kittens. Mr. Fairchild 
understands how to tame these pretty, but generally detested, 

21. �ey stayed at the Greystone Hotel for the night. See Jenson diary, January 
24, 1923, 268.
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monument, facing north. On the west side of the monument is 
the following inscription: “Erected by the State of California 
in memory of James W. Marshall, the discoverer of gold, born 
Oct. 8, 1810; died Aug. 10, 1885. �e �rst nugget was found 
in the race of Sutter’s mill Jan. 24, 1848.”

�e remains of Mr. Marshall lie buried under the mon-
ument. At the foot of the hill stands the original log cabin 
in which Mr. Marshall lived at the time gold was discov-
ered, and close to the banks of the river two iron poles 
(about thirty-�ve feet high) have been erected on the very 
spot where the gold was �rst found. On the top of each of 
the poles is a square box painted white; these are visible for 
quite a distance.

and heavily timbered country in a northwesterly direction to 
Coloma, where gold was discovered January 24, 1848. �e 
honor of discovery has been given to James W. Marshall, 
who acted as foreman for Mr. John A. Sutter in the erection 
of a sawmill in 1848, although members of the Mormon 
Battalion,23 who worked under Mr. Marshall while digging a 
millrace, were in reality the ones who �rst turned up the red 
metal into their shovels. �ey, however, did not know that the 
reddish particles in the dirt which they handled was gold. But 
Mr. Marshall seemingly did, and when he took samples of the 
particles to Sutter’s Fort (on the present site of Sacramento) 
to have it analyzed, it was found to be gold, and thus he got 
the honor of being the discoverer.

A monument costing about $10,000 was erected in 1887 
in memory of Mr. Marshall on the top of a hill rising to 
the height of about two hundred feet on the south side of 
the South Fork of the American River. �e granite base of 
the monument is 30½ feet high, while the bronze statue of 
Marshall is 11½ feet in height. Considerable public money 
has been spent in improving the grounds immediately sur-
rounding the monument and in constructing necessary roads. 
�e name Marshall appears in large letters on the front of the 

23. �e Mormon Battalion was a religious unit of the US military composed 
of members of the Church. �e men marched from Council Blu�s, Iowa, 
to San Diego, California, to aid in the Mexican-American War, 1846–47. 
By 1923, the 1,900-mile journey by the Mormon contingent and their sub-
stantial involvement in the California gold rush was not well documented 
in the Church Historian’s O�ce. �us Jenson was eager to gather import-
ant information to add to the ongoing historical record of the Church. See 
Jenson, Encyclopedic History of the Church, 536–37.

Sutter’s Fort. Bancroft Library.
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Depiction of Mormon Island, ca. 1849. Bancroft Library.
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he found an ideal mill site with abundant waterpower and 
inexhaustible supplies of timber on the hillsides. He reported 
back to General Sutter, and they formed a partnership. �en 
Marshall organized a company and returned to Coloma, 
where he commenced work on the sawmill August 28, 1847. 
After encountering many di�culties, the mill was at last com-
pleted, but it did not commence running until April 28, 1848.

On January 24, 1848, while Marshall was out, as usual, 
with his men at work (among whom were several members 
of the Mormon Battalion) gold was discovered. He later 
reported that he went down to the mill site that day as usual, 
and after shutting o� the water from the tailrace, he stepped 
into it near the lower end, and there, on a rock about six 
inches beneath the surface of the water, he discovered par-
ticles of a red substance. Immediately the thought �ashed 
across his mind that the particles might be gold. He gathered 
up a number of the largest, and going to the cabin of one of 
the workmen, Mr. Peter Wimmer, he asked for lye to test out 
his theory, for he thought if it was any other metal than gold 
the lye would a�ect it. Mrs. [Jennie] Wimmer informed him 
that she was making a kettle of soft soap and suggested that 
he throw the metal into the boiling liquid. �is was done; 

ent-day San Francisco), the �rst president of the LDS California Mission 
(1846–49), and a journalist, starting one of the �rst newspapers in the 
Golden State, the California Star (1847–48). He was later excommunicated 
from the Church after disagreements over tithing. See Jenson, Biographical 
Encyclopedia, 3:606. For further information on Samuel Brannan, see 
Bagley, “‘Every �ing Is Favourable! And God Is on Our Side,’” 185–209.

Changed by Digging
Coloma is now an important village with a post o�ce, a hotel, 
a small store, and a few private residences. In the day of the 
gold excitement, it was a large town, said to contain ten solid 
blocks of business houses. A modern steel bridge spans the 
river near the point where gold was �rst discovered. �ere 
is no trace of the millrace or site of the old sawmill left, as 
the surface of the lower grounds about Coloma have all been 
changed by miners who have been digging for gold.

In passing, I may say that James W. Marshall, the dis-
coverer of gold, was a native of New Jersey and early in life 
learned the trade of a coach and wagon builder. He went to 
California in 1845 and engaged to work for General John A. 
Sutter. Marshall was a handyman around the fort. He made 
plows, wagons, and spinning wheels, besides doing general 
carpenter work, being a good mechanic. In 1847 General 
Sutter, who was in need of lumber for a contemplated �ouring 
mill, sent Mr. Marshall o� exploring the surrounding country 
for a suitable site for a sawmill. Presently he branched o� on 
the South Fork of the American River and at length reached 
a place called by the Indians “Culloomah”24 and afterwards, 
at the suggestion of Samuel Brannan,25 named Coloma. Here 

24. �e Coloma area was originally inhabited by the Nisenan, a group of Native 
Americans who called the region “Cullumah,” meaning “beautiful valley.” 
See Sederquist, Images of America, 7.

25. Samuel Brannan (1819–89) led a group of over two hundred Latter-day 
Saints on the ship Brooklyn from New York to California between February 
and July 1846. Brannan became a pioneer settler of Yerba Buena (pres-
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e�ect that clothing and other things were sold in Great Salt 
Lake City at New York prices.27 �ese gold-seeking immi-
grants who crossed the plains and mountains for the gold 
mines were both willing and anxious to exchange their dry 
goods, etc., for provisions and fresh animals in order to has-
ten on to their destination.28

We may here add that Mr. Marshall in his later days 
became addicted to drink and died a poor man.

For many years there had been some doubt in regard 
to the exact date on which gold was discovered at Coloma, 
and January 19, 1848, was for some time generally accepted 
as the date of discovery; but after consulting the private 
journals of Henry W. Bigler29 and Azariah Smith30 (both 

Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 1:34–37. For further information on the 
life and ministry of Heber C. Kimball, see Kimball, Heber C. Kimball.

27. During the harsh winter of 1848–49, Heber C. Kimball promised the 
Latter-day Saints that within a year they would have su�cient food, cloth-
ing, and other necessities. During the next summer, California-bound gold 
seekers passed through Salt Lake City and willingly traded with members 
of the Church, thus ful�lling the prophecy. See Heber C. Kimball, in 
Journal of Discourses, 10:247. See also Reeves, “Two Massachusetts Forty-
Niner Perspectives,” 123–24.

28. For further information on the Mormon involvement in the California gold 
rush, see Owens, Gold Rush Saints.

29. Henry William Bigler (1815–1900) was a member of the Mormon Battalion, 
1846–47. He later served three missions for the Church before becoming 
a pioneer settler of St. George, Utah. See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 
3:599. Bigler’s journal is located under call number MS 1853 at the Church 
History Library.

30. Azariah Smith (1828–1912) was a member of the Mormon Battalion, 
1846–47. He later became a pioneer settler of Sanpete County, Utah, 

and when, after a few minutes, the pieces of metal were taken 
out and appeared brighter than when they were put into the 
kettle, Marshall, who had previously paid some attention to 
minerals, concluded that he had indeed found gold. Four days 
after the discovery, on January 28, 1848, Marshall went to 
Sutter’s Fort, taking with him a few ounces of the gold, which 
he and General Sutter tested with nitric acid. �is �nal test 
removed all doubts. Gold indeed had been found at Coloma.

At that time Sacramento, then called Sutter’s Fort (also 
New Helvetia, General Sutter being of Swiss descendants), 
was a mere village, and even San Francisco was but a small 
town. But after the discovery of gold had been heralded abroad, 
so many people arrived within two years after the discovery 
became known that California from a very sparsely settled 
country grew in population to such an extent that it could be 
admitted into the Union as a state September 9, 1850, on the 
same date that Utah was created a territory.

It should be remembered that of the many thousand gold 
diggers who helped swell the population of California a 
great number passed through Great Salt Lake City in 1849 
and in 1850, on their way to the Paci�c Coast, and that on 
account of this great rush to the gold �elds a remarkable 
prophecy of the late Heber C. Kimball26 was ful�lled to the 

26. Heber Chase Kimball (1801–68) was a member of the original latter-day 
Quorum of the Twelve Apostles (1835–47). He also marched in Zion’s 
Camp (1834), evangelized on two overseas missions to England (1838–39, 
1840–41), and served as a counselor in the First Presidency (1847–68). He 
was well-known in Latter-day Saint circles for his gift of prophecy. See 
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“James W. Marshall discovers gold. One of the command-
ers in the California department of the Mexican War was John 
C. Fremont,32 and in his battalion was a soldier named James 
W. Marshall. He crossed the plains with his family in 1846, 
and soon after the close of the war, he traveled to Sutter’s Fort, 
looking for work. Captain Sutter gave him employment, as he 
was a good mechanic, and in December 1847 the captain sent 
Marshall into the mountains to �nd a good location for a saw-
mill. He found a good site at a point now known as Coloma, 
and the workmen began erecting the framework of the mill. In 
digging a millrace January 24, 1848, Marshall found some piec-
es of gold. �e workmen, many of them Mormons, immediate-
ly left their work and began digging for the gold nuggets. �e 
land on which the gold was found belonged to Captain Sutter, 
who had obtained the grant from [Manuel] Micheltorena, the 
Mexican governor.”33

With the Elders
After making the necessary investigation at Coloma and 
securing pictures and literature relative to the gold discovery, 

32. John Charles Frémont (1813–90) was appointed a captain over the California 
Battalion during the Mexican-American War (1846–48). While recruiting 
for his volunteer contingent, Frémont visited the Latter-day Saints in Yerba 
Buena. Many members of the Church were willing to enlist until William 
Glover, one of the Brooklyn Saints, identi�ed some of Frémont’s company as 

“Missouri mobbers.” Only two Latter-day Saints decided to join. �is was 
the �rst of several encounters Frémont had with the Mormons. See Glover, 
Mormons in California, 18. See also Egan, Fremont, 501–2.

33. Tinkham, History of Stanislaus County, 42.

Mormon Battalion boys who kept daily journals) and other 
sources of information, it was decided that January 24, 
1848, was the true date of discovery. The California legis-
lature of 1917 empowered Governor William D. Stephens 
to appoint a committee “to determine the exact date of the 
discovery of gold” at Coloma (Sutter’s Mill). The commit-
tee, headed by Philip Baldwin Bekeart, investigated the 
matter thoroughly and proved positively that January 24, 
and not January 19, was the date of discovery.31 Hence, the 
California legislature passed a resolution in 1919 approving 
the report of the committee and “decrees and recognizes 
January 24, 1848, as the date upon which gold was discov-
ered in California by James W. Marshall.” The legislature 
further resolved “that the board of trustees of Sutter’s Fort 
is hereby authorized and directed to change the inscrip-
tion upon the monument erected in memory of James W. 
Marshall at Coloma, El Dorado County, so that the cor-
rect date of the discovery of gold in California by James W. 
Marshall will appear thereon.”

In the History of Stanislaus County, by George H. Tinkham, 
published by the Historic Record Company in Los Angeles, 
California, 1920, the following paragraph occurs:

and served as a worker in the Manti Temple. See Jenson, Biographical 
Encyclopedia, 2:224. Smith’s journal is located under call number MS 1834 
at the Church History Library.

31. Bekeart’s report was subsequently published as �e Discovery of Gold in 
California (Sacramento: California State Printing O�ce, 1919).
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we learned that there are upwards of two hundred Saints in 
the city of Sacramento and that regular meetings are being 
held; that a branch of the Church had been organized; and 
that the branch had a good choir, a �ne Sunday School, a 
Relief Society, a young people’s association, etc. �e elders 
occupy comfortable quarters in a building near the place of 
holding meetings.

�e Sacramento Branch40 is a part of the Gridley 
Conference.41 �is conference embraces that part of California, 
which extends41 from Stockton on the south to the state line on 
the north and from the Coast Range on the west to the state 
line (Nevada) east. It includes the branches in Sacramento, 
Yuba City (including Marysvale), Gridley, Liberty, and 
Grenada. �ere are, besides this, Sunday Schools in Stockton 
and Orland. �e Sacramento Branch (including Stockton) has 
about four hundred members; meetings and Sunday School 
are held in Muddox Hall, corner of �irty-Fifth Street and 

was set apart as a missionary to California on October 10, 1922, and 
returned on February 21, 1924. See Missionary Record Index, Church 
History Library.

40. �e Sacramento Branch was organized on Sunday, April 20, 1873. At 
the time of Jenson’s visit in 1923, it was part of the Gridley Conference in 
the California Mission. See Sacramento Branch Manuscript History and 
Historical Reports, LR 7708 2, Church History Library.

41. �e Gridley Conference of the California Mission was organized on 
October 21, 1919, and covered much of northeastern California, includ-
ing Corning, Grenada, Gridley, Liberty, Orland, Oroville, Rosemary, 
Sacramento, and Stockton. �e Gridley Branch (1907–34) was for many 
years the largest branch of the Church in California and met in the chapel 
at Gridley, the �rst Latter-day Saint chapel in California, dedicated in 1912. 
See Muir, Mormon Activities in California, 1:114–15, 182–83.

etc., Elder Page and I returned to Placerville, whence we trav-
eled by stage (automobile) to Folsom, distant twenty- eight 
miles. Here we hired an automobile and traveled 3½ miles to 
Mormon Island,34 where we made the needed observations, 
and then returned via Folsom (a town of 1,500 inhabitants) 
to Sacramento, where we visited with �ve of our elders from 
Zion who are laboring in the city of Sacramento and vicinity—
namely, �omas Brigham Smith,35 of Santaquin, Utah (pres-
ident of the Gridley Conference); Benjamin F. Zimmerman,36 
of Rexburg, Idaho; William Floyd Montgomery,37 of North 
Ogden, Utah; William V. Denning,38 of Idaho Falls, Idaho; 
and Forest L. Packard,39 of Nampa, Idaho. From these elders 

34. Mormon Island was a primary mining location during the California gold 
rush after discharged members of the Mormon Battalion discovered gold 
there a few days following initial discoveries at Sutter’s Mill. See Jenson, 
Encyclopedic History of the Church, 537.

35. �omas Brigham Smith (1892–1970) of the Santaquin Ward in the Nebo 
Stake was set apart as a missionary to California on April 19, 1921, and 
returned on April 11, 1924. See Missionary Record Index, Church History 
Library.

36. Benjamin Franklin Zimmerman (1860–1939) of the Lyman Ward in the 
Fremont Stake was set apart as a missionary to California on April 18, 1922, 
and returned on August 20, 1924. See Missionary Record Index, Church 
History Library.

37. William Floyd Montgomery (1900–1975) of the North Ogden Ward in 
the Ogden Stake was set apart as a missionary to California on February 
14, 1922, and returned on August 20, 1924. See Missionary Record Index, 
Church History Library.

38. William Vernal Denning (1898–1978) of the Idaho Falls Ward in the 
Bingham Stake was set apart as a missionary to California on January 
10, 1922, and returned on August 5, 1924. See Missionary Record Index, 
Church History Library.

39. Forest Leroy Packard (1893–1963) of the Nampa Ward in the Boise Stake 
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Fifth Avenue (3599 Fifth Avenue).42 �e elders’ headquar-
ters are at 2980 �irty-Sixth Street. Until December 1922, 
several branches in Nevada and others in California were 
also included in the Gridley Conference; but the branches in 
Nevada (formerly part of the Gridley Conference) were orga-
nized as the Nevada Conference43 in December 1922; and 
the Fresno Conference44 had been organized in January 1922. 
Eleven elders and four missionary sisters are at present labor-
ing in the Gridley Conference; Sacramento is the conference 
headquarters.

We assisted the elders in holding a successful open-air 
meeting on a street corner in the central part of the city of 
Sacramento in the evening. Only a few people stopped to 
listen in the beginning, but as we proceeded, quite a crowd 
gathered and gave us a respectable hearing. Elders �omas 
B. Smith, Andrew Jenson, and William V. Denning were the 
speakers. When we explained that there were Mormons in 
California one year before there were any in Utah, our audi-
ence became interested and after that listened attentively to a 

42. Latter-day Saints rented the Muddox Hall at 3599 Fifth Avenue in 
Sacramento for worship services, 1918–24. See Church Directories, 1917–
1925, Church History Library.

43. �e Nevada Conference of the California Mission was organized on 
Sunday, December 10, 1922, and covered the towns of Carlo, Elko, Fallon, 
Loverock, Reno, Sparks, Tonopah, Wabuska, and Winnemucca. See 
Jenson, Encyclopedic History of the Church, 571–73.

44. �e Fresno Conference of the California Mission was organized on Sunday, 
January 29, 1922, and covered the interior and central parts of California 
and San Joaquin Valley, including Bakers�eld, Fresno, Merced, and 
Modesto. See Jenson, Encyclopedic History of the Church, 269. Samuel Brannan. Church History Library.
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Sacramento Chamber of Commerce; Dr. James A. B. Scherer, 
a local historian and lecturer; Harry C. Peterson, assistant 
librarian of the state library; and Frank B. Durkee, reporter 
on the Sacramento Bee.49

We traveled by automobile to our destination, where we 
did considerable climbing on the hills bordering Mormon 
Island; took some photographs; and returned to Sacramento 
toward evening, where I stopped overnight with the LDS 
missionaries.

Mormon Island was a very noted spot at an early day 
when gold mining was booming on the American River and 
on other streams in California. �e bar in the river called 
Mormon Island only contained a few acres and only sug-
gested the name of the town that sprang up on the banks of 
the South Fork of the American River near the point where 
the North and South Forks of that historic river unite and 
become one stream, which about thirty miles below empties 
into the greater Sacramento River. �e bar called Mormon 
Island was formed by the river dividing into two channels and 
�owing thus for a short distance, but these channels seemed to 
have been continually changing, as at the present time there is 
no island and as the water in the river all runs in one channel 
where there were formerly two. �e town of Mormon Island 
is believed to have had between two thousand and three thou-
sand inhabitants, living on both sides of the river. Now there 

49. Page did not join the group going to Mormon Island, as he left for San 
Francisco to “make �nal arrangements for [their] South American trip.” 
See Jenson diary, January 26, 1923, 270.

short historical recital of the Brooklyn company of Saints,45 the 
Mormon Battalion, the settlement of San Bernardino,46 etc.47

“Jenson’s Travels,” January 27, 192348

Sacramento, California

Friday, January 26. Elder Page left Sacramento for San 
Francisco to arrange for our transportation to South America, 
while I was solicited to make another visit to Mormon Island 
in company with the following gentlemen, prominent cit-
izens of Sacramento: Stanley J. Richard, president of the 

45. �e ship Brooklyn, captained by Abel W. Richardson (1798–1884), carried 
238 Latter-day Saints from the Brooklyn Harbor in New York, around 
Cape Horn in South America, to Yerba Buena in Northern California. �e 
voyage lasted nearly six months, from February 4, 1846, to July 29, 1846. 
Ten passengers died along the 24,000-mile journey. See Jenson, Encyclopedic 
History of the Church, 94–95. See also Hansen, “Voyage of the Brooklyn,” 
46–72.

46. San Bernardino was originally a small Mormon settlement in Southern 
California (east of present-day Los Angeles), after President Brigham 
Young sent a large group of over �ve hundred Latter-day Saints, led by 
Amasa Mason Lyman (1813–77), member of the Quorum of the Twelve 
Apostles, to colonize the area in February 1851. A number of challenges 
arose in San Bernardino, including non-Mormon opposition to plural mar-
riage, �nancial setbacks, and apostasy, ultimately leading to a spirit of dis-
sent and the abandonment of the colony in 1857. See Jenson, Biographical 
Encyclopedia, 766–68. For further information, see Lyman, San Bernardino.

47. After the lecture, Page treated all the missionaries to dinner before Jenson 
and Page checked into the Traveler’s Hotel for the night. See Jenson diary, 
January 25, 1923, 270.

48. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, February 17, 1923, 7.
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piece of gold—or rather what he supposed to be gold—at the 
bottom of the race. . . . A number of young men from the Mor-
mon Battalion were at work on the mill for Marshall and Co. 
.  .  . Marshall, Weimer, Bennett, and Captain Sutter claimed 
the right to the discovery of gold and charged every man who 
worked there 10 percent of what they found. Some of the boys 
became dissatis�ed and went prospecting down the river for 
themselves and found good digging about twenty-�ve miles be-
low on an island which has ever since been known as Mormon 
Island. I put up a store there and called the place Natoma after 
the name of the Indians who lived there. I also put up a store 
at the mill and called the place Coloma after the name of the 
tribe there.”51

�e historian Bancroft52 in his history of California says:

About February 21, 1848, Henry W. Bigler, one of the Mor-
mons working on Sutter’s sawmill, wrote to certain of his com-
rades of the Mormon Battalion—Jesse Martin, Israel Evans, 
and Ephraim Green, who were at work on Sutter’s �our mill—
informing them of the discovery of gold and charging them to 

51. Samuel Brannan, “Gold Discovery in California,” Calistoga Tribune, April 
11, 1872, 1, 37.

52. Hubert Howe Bancroft (1832–1918) was a well-published historian of the 
American West. He was friendly to the Latter-day Saints, and while writ-
ing a history of Utah in 1884, Bancroft contacted the Church Historian’s 
O�ce with questions about the Church. His two-volume history of the 
Beehive State was published as History of Utah, 1540–1886 (San Francisco: 
�e History Company, 1889). See Peterson, “Hubert Howe Bancroft,” in 
Etulain, Writing Western History, 43–72.

is only a store and three or four private residences at, or near, 
the island. Mormon Island is about 1½ miles northeast of the 
Folsom Penitentiary,50 where the worst criminals of California 
(most of them being called “third termers,” i.e., men who are 
serving their third term in state prison) are doing time. �e 
town of Folsom, the nearest railroad point, is about 3½ miles 
southwest of Mormon Island, and the distance from Mormon 
Island by nearest road is about twenty-�ve miles.

�e following concerning Mormon Island is culled from 
di�erent authorities, of which one says:

Mormon Island is the name given to a small island in the South 
Fork of the American River about halfway between Coloma, or 
the point in Coloma Valley where gold was �rst discovered in 
California on January 24, 1848, and Sutter’s Fort, at the junc-
tion of the American and Sacramento Rivers. �us Mormon 
Island is about twenty-�ve miles west of Coloma and about the 
same distance east of Sutter’s Fort.

Of this place Samuel Brannan wrote in the Calistoga 
Tribune of April 11, 1872:

Night of Discovery
On January 19, 1848, when James W. Marshall let the water 
into the millrace and the water had run clear, he picked up a 

50. �e Folsom State Prison, established in 1880, is the second-oldest prison in 
California. It was also the �rst prison in the country to have electricity. See 
Brown, Folsom Prison, 130.
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Details Con�rmed
Henry W. Bigler con�rms the above with details as follows:

“In the evening of Sunday, February 27, 1848, three of the boys 
from below arrived in our shanty, they having heard through a 
letter I had written to my messmates while in the battalion that 
we had found gold here at the sawmill. �is letter had been 
written in a con�dential way with the understanding that noth-
ing should be said about it. As these men had been told of the 
discovery of a secret, they had now come up to see for them-
selves, and it happened that Mr. Marshall was in and sat till a 
late hour talking, he being in �ne humor, as he mostly always 
was, and very entertaining. When about to leave for his own 
quarters on the hill a quarter of a mile away, one of the men 
(Mr. Hudson) asked the privilege of prospecting in the tailrace, 
which was readily granted, and the next morning (Monday, 
February 28) three men (Sidney Willis, Wilford Hudson, and 
Levi Fi�eld) went into the race. Soon afterwards, Hudson, with 
his butcher knife, dug out a nugget worth six dollars; they tar-
ried with us a day or two, and as they returned, they prospected 
all along the creek and found a few particles of gold at the place 
which afterwards became known as Mormon Island. �is even-
tually proved to be one of the richest �nds in California.”54

“On July 4, 1849, at a meeting held at Mormon Island, W. C. 
Bigelow in the chair, and James Queen, secretary, resolutions 

54. We were unable to locate the source Jenson cites here. Henry W. Bigler 
gives similar accounts in his journal and other published reminiscences, 
located at the Church History Library in Salt Lake City under call numbers 
MS 4553, MS 1853, and M270.1 B594g, respectively.

keep it secret or to tell it to those only who could be trusted. 
�e result was the arrival on the evening of the twenty-seventh 
of three men: Sidney Willis, Levi Fi�eld, and Wilford Hudson, 
who said they had come to search for gold. Marshall received 
them graciously enough and gave them permission to mine in 
the tailrace. Accordingly, next morning they all went there, and 
soon Hudson picked up a piece worth about six dollars. �us 
encouraged, they continued their labors with fair success till 
March 2, when they felt obliged to return to the �our mill; for 
to all except Martin, their informant, they had intimated that 
their trip to the sawmill was merely to pay a visit and to shoot 
deer. Willis and Hudson followed the stream to continue the 
search for gold, and Fi�eld, accompanied by Bigler, pursued the 
easier route by the road. On meeting at the �our mill, Hudson 
expressed disgust at being able to show only a few �ne particles, 
not more than half a dollar in value, which he and his com-
panion had found at a bar opposite a little island about half-
way down the river. Nevertheless, the disease worked its way 
into the blood of other Mormon boys, and Ephraim Green and 
Ira Willis, brother of Sidney Willis, urged the prospectors to 
return that together they might examine the place which had 
shown indications of gold. It was with di�culty that they pre-
vailed upon them to do so. Willis and Hudson, however, �nally 
consented; and the so lately slighted spot presently became fa-
mous as the rich Mormon Diggings, the island, Mormon Island, 
taking its name from these battalion boys who had �rst found 
gold there.”53

53. Bancroft, History of California, vol. 6, 1848–1859, 47–49.
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where they could procure water for themselves and their horses. 
�ey descended the blu� bank of the river to a �at covered with 
underbrush and then cooked and ate their supper. After this 
was accomplished, it being still light, one of the men remarked: 
‘�ey are taking out gold above us on the river; let us see if we 
can �nd some at this place.’ �ey scraped o� the topsoil, took 
a tin pan which they carried with them for cooking purposes, 
panned out some dirt, and attained a ‘�ne prospect.’ Being 
satis�ed that gold abounded in this vicinity, they went to the 
fort (Sutter’s Fort) the next day and communicated the news to 
Samuel Brannan, then of the �rm of C. C. Smith & Co., pro-
prietors of a small trading post where goods were bartered for 
hides, tallow, and wheat. Brannan at that time was spiritual 
guide and director of the Mormon population of New Helvetia 
(Sutter’s Fort) and other districts of California. He proceeded 
to the spot indicated by Hudson and his companion, set up 
a preemption claim, and demanded a royalty of 33⅓ percent 
on all the gold taken out on the bar. So long as the Mormons 
were largely in the majority of those engaged in mining on the 
bar, this royalty was rigidly exacted. In course of time, however, 
unbelievers �ocked into the mines and refused to pay tribute to 
the pretended owner of the land, who was compelled to give up 
the collection. In the meantime, however, Brannan had accu-
mulated several thousand dollars, with which he formed part-
nerships with Mellus, Howard, & Co. of San Francisco, under 
the name of S. Brannan & Co., which laid the foundation of 
the large fortune acquired by him subsequently. �is was the 
origin of Mormon Island. �e extent of the village proper is 
now (1880) about eighty acres.

were adopted declaring that in consequence of the failure of 
Congress to provide a government the separation of this country 
from the mother country has been loudly talked of, but those 
present at the meeting pledged themselves to discountenance 
every e�ort at separation or any movement that would tend to 
counteract the action of the general government of California. 
�e meeting also resolved that, believing slavery to be injurious, 
they would do everything in their power to prevent its exten-
sion to their part of the country.”55

In the History of Sacramento County, published by 
�ompson and West, Oakland, California, 1880, the follow-
ing article appears under the caption “Mormon Island”:

A Fine Prospect
“In the spring of 1848, two Mormons, one of whom was 
Wilford Hudson,56 being on their way from Sutter’s Mill (now 
Coloma) found themselves near sunset at the spot now known 
as Willow Springs, in Sacramento County. Concluding to go 
no farther that night, they shot a deer and made their way to 
the nearest point of the South Fork of the American River, 

55. Jenson inexplicably, with no transition, jumps from Bigler’s account to 
Bancroft’s History of California. �is short paragraph describes a non-Mor-
mon meeting at Mormon Island. Bancroft, History of California, vol. 6, 
1848–1859, 279–80.

56. Wilford Hudson (1818–1905) was a member of the Mormon Battalion, 
1846–47. After his military discharge and involvement in the California 
gold rush, he picked up his family at Council Blu�s, Iowa, moved to Utah, 
and became a pioneer settler of Grantsville. See Jenson, Biographical 
Encyclopedia, 4:747.



CHAPTER 146

a stage line was running from Folsom to Coloma, passing 
through Mormon Island; this line was still in operation in 
1880. In 1849 about four hundred people were working on 
the Bar (Mormon Island). �e only mining going on in the 
vicinity of Mormon Island in 1880 was at Richmond Hill, 
about one-half mile north of the village proper. In 1856 a �re 
destroyed the southwest portion of the village, which was 
never rebuilt. At one time there were four hotels, three dry 
goods stores, �ve general merchandise stores, two blacksmith 
shops, an express o�ce, a carpenter shop, a butcher shop, a 
bakery, a livery stable, and seven saloons on Mormon Island. 
In 1880 the population had dropped to about twenty people. 
�e decadence of Mormon Island began with the completion 
of the railroad to Folsom in 1856. A school was opened at 
Mormon Island in 1851, and the �rst schoolhouse was built 
in 1853. �e only bridge in the township of Mormon Island 
is known as the Mormon Island Bridge. �e �rst struc-
ture was built in 1851; this was a wooden bridge which was 
washed away in 1854. A wire suspension bridge was built 
soon afterwards; this was washed away by the �ood of 1862 
and was again rebuilt and still stood in 1880. Now a �ne 
modern iron bridge spans the south branch of the American 
River on the site of the old bridges.

In perusing printed volumes and manuscripts in California 
libraries, I have found much historical data concerning 

and evangelize in the Sandwich Islands (Hawaii). See Aikau, Chosen People, 
20–27.

“As the news of the gold discoveries spread through the state, 
miners came �ocking in from all quarters, till, in 1853, the 
town had a population of about 2,500 people, nine hundred of 
whom were voters.”57

�e �rst hotel at Mormon Island, called the Blue Tent, 
was opened soon after the place became populated. Samuel 
Brannan opened the �rst store in 1848. He sold out to James 
Queen, one of Sacramento’s pioneers. J. P. Markham opened 
a hotel and store at Mormon Island in 1850.

Stage Line Established
A stage line to Mormon Island was established in 1850, one 
of the lines running from Sacramento to Coloma passing 
through Mormon Island, and the other from Sacramento 
to the island and return. �ese lines were undoubtedly run-
ning when George Q. Cannon58 and others were called at the 
mines to go on missions to the Hawaiian Islands.59 In 1856 

57. History of Sacramento County, 45.
58. George Quayle Cannon (1827–1901) served as a member of the Quorum 

of the Twelve Apostles and as a counselor in the First Presidency for four 
di�erent presidents of the Church. He also served as a missionary to the 
Sandwich Islands (Hawaii), 1849–53. He was known for having founded 
the Juvenile Instructor, a widely read Sunday School–themed periodical, 
and for being a political proponent of the Church, serving as a territorial 
delegate for four terms. See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 1:42.

59. On October 2, 1849, President Brigham Young sent twenty Salt Lake City–
based Mormon elders on missions to mine gold in California, including a 
young George Q. Cannon. �e “gold missionaries” worked in the mines for 
about a year, when they were instructed to abandon the mining operation 
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Modesto Branch,62 which was organized January 7, 1923, and 
has already 115 members. �is branch constitutes a part of the 
Fresno Conference of the California Mission.63 Meetings and 
Sunday Schools are held regularly in the Seiots Hall, hired for 
the purpose, but the Saints are contemplating the erection of a 
chapel in the near future. Two elders from Zion are at present 
laboring as missionaries in Modesto and vicinity.

Failing to obtain the desired information concerning 
New Hope, I returned by rail to Stockton, the county seat of 
San Joaquin County, where I buried myself in the historical 
department of the public library and was successful in �nding 
what I sought, at least in part. I was busy doing so until the 
steamer, on which I took passage to San Francisco, sailed.64

�e following extracts are chosen from among a number of 
others which I have made from sundry publications.

Samuel Brannan, in writing from Yerba Buena (now San 
Francisco) on January 1, 1847, said:

“We have commenced a settlement on the River San Joaquin, 
a large and beautiful stream emptying into the Bay of San 

62. �e Modesto Branch was organized on Sunday, January 7, 1923, and was 
part of the Fresno Conference in the California Mission.

63. �e California Mission was organized in 1846 under the direction of 
Samuel Brannan, the �rst president of the mission. It closed in 1858 and 
reopened in 1892, with headquarters in Los Angeles. It covered the con-
ferences and districts of Arizona, California, and Nevada. See Jenson, 
Encyclopedic History of the Church, 109–10.

64. Jenson sailed to San Francisco on the steamship Isleton, where he “enjoyed a 
good night’s rest on board.” See Jenson diary, January 27, 1923, 272.

Mormon Island and vicinity which no doubt will be woven 
into Church history at some future day.

“Jenson’s Travels,” January 27, 192360

Stockton, San Joaquin County, California

I left Sacramento early in the morning and traveled by rail 
to Modesto, the county seat of Stanislaus County, California.

I took this journey in order to �nd the exact location of 
New Hope, the �rst Anglo-Saxon settlement in the great 
San Joaquin Valley, which now contains seven of the most 
�ourishing settlements in California. �is settlement was 
founded by a part of the Brooklyn company of Saints in 1846. 
On my arrival at Modesto, I called on the mayor of the city, 
Solomon  P. Elias, Esq., who is one of the oldest settlers of 
Modesto now alive and a man very much interested in local 
history. He received me with courtesy but informed me that 
the site of New Hope was not in Stanislaus County, it being on 
the north side of the Stanislaus River, which forms the bound-
ary line between Stanislaus and San Joaquin Counties. While 
in Modesto, which is a town of about �fteen thousand inhab-
itants, I visited with Elder Alfred E. H. Cardwell,61 a former 
resident of the 27th Ward, Salt Lake City. He presides over the 

60. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, March 3, 1923, 4.
61. Alfred Edward Henry Cardwell (1879–1968), a clerk and record keeper 

by profession, served as president of the Modesto Branch of the Fresno 
Conference, 1923–33. See Church Directories, 1922–1934.
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In Bancroft’s History of California the following is printed:

“Samuel Brannan went east to meet Brigham Young68 and the 
main body, leaving New Helvetia (Sacramento) late in April, 
reaching Fort Hall69 on June 9, and meeting the Saints (pio-
neers under President Brigham Young) at Green River about 
July 4 to come on with them to Great Salt Lake Valley. He 
was not pleased with the decision to remain there and found 
a city, and he soon started back, sorrowful, with the news. 
In Sierra he met the returning members of the Mormon 
Battalion on September 6, 1847, giving them a dreary pic-
ture of the chosen valley and predicting that President Young 
would change his mind and bring his people to California the 
next year.

“�e members of the Brooklyn company were likewise disap-
pointed to learn that the new home of their people was to be in the 
far interior. Some declined to leave the coast region, the rest, giv-
ing up their dreams of a great city at New Hope, devoted them-
selves half regretfully to preparations for a migration eastward.

68. Brigham Young (1801–77) served as a member of the original Quorum of 
the Twelve Apostles (1835–47) and as the second President of the Church 
(1847–77). Known as the “American Moses” for leading Mormon pioneers 
from Illinois to the Great Basin, Young was one of the great settlers of the 
American West and served as the �rst governor of Utah Territory (1851–
58). See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 1:8. For more information on the 
life and ministry of Brigham Young, see Turner, Brigham Young.

69. Fort Hall was an important trading post and landmark in the Snake River 
Valley in southeastern Idaho. Latter-day Saints regularly passed through 
Fort Hall as they settled in the Great Basin Region and traveled to and 
from California and Idaho. See Frazer, Forts of the West, 44–45. See also 
Bigler and Bagley, Army of Israel, 225–52.

Francisco: but the families of the company are wintering in this 
place (Yerba Buena), where they �nd plenty of employment, 
and houses to live in; and about twenty of our number are up 
at the new settlement, which we call New Hope, ploughing and 
putting in wheat and other crops and making preparations to 
move their families up in the spring, where they hope to meet 
the main body of the Church by land some time during the 
coming season.”65

Site of New Hope
�e site of New Hope was on the north bank of the Stanislaus, 
about a mile and a half from the San Joaquin. William Stout66 
was in charge of the party and went in a launch from Yerba 
Buena to found the �rst settlement in San Joaquin County. A 
log house was built and a sawmill; eighty acres of land were 
seeded and fenced, and in April 1847 the crops promised 
well, but not much more is known of the enterprise, except 
that it was abandoned in the autumn. Bancroft states that in 
April 1847 New Hope boasted ten or twelve colonists and 
several houses.67

�e reason for abandoning the enterprise was the receipt 
of news that the Church had decided to settle in Salt Lake.

65. Brannan, “To the Saints in England and America,” 306.
66. William Stout (1816–unknown) was a member of the Latter-day Saint 

Brooklyn company that sailed from New York to California in 1846. He 
was a pioneer settler of San Joaquin County, California. He later settled 
in San Bernardino, California, where he became an assessor, schoolteacher, 
and superintendent. He was excommunicated for unknown reasons, but it 
may have been because of mismanagement of the Church’s land and other 
assets. See Lyman, San Bernardino, 85–109.

67. See Bancroft, History of California, vol. 6, 1848–1859, 11.
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of this narrative. It says in substance: In the fall of 1846, the 
Mormons made an attempt at settlement. �ey came—some 
thirty of them—up the San Joaquin River in a schooner, land-
ing on the east bank near where the Central Paci�c Railroad 
(now Southern Paci�c) crosses, and then went over the coun-
try to the north bank of the Stanislaus River to a point about 
1½ miles from its mouth, where a location had been previously 
selected by Samuel Brannan, under whose orders the settlers 
were acting. �e party, all of whom were well armed with ri-
�es and revolvers, had come intending to stay. �e �rst schoo-
ner that brought them—the �rst probably that ever ascended 
the San Joaquin River—was loaded with wheat, a wagon, and 
implements necessary to found a settlement and put in a crop. 
�ey soon completed a log house, covered with oak shingles 
made on the ground. �ey erected a Pulgas73 redwood sawmill 
and sawed the boards from oak logs with which to lay the �oor. 
As soon as the building was completed, they plowed the ground 
and sowed wheat, fencing it in. In this way, by the middle of 
January 1847, they had eighty acres sowed and enclosed. �e 
fence was made by cutting down and cutting up oak trees, roll-
ing the butt and large pieces into a line and covering them with 
limbs. �e native Californians made their fences in this way. 
�en dissensions arose among them, and the leader, Stout, left 
the county.”

73. Pulgas, a Spanish term meaning “�ea,” refers to the area of present-day 
San Mateo County in Northern California, including Atherton, Belmont, 
Menlo Park, Redwood City, and San Carlos. It was named after a land grant 
called Pulgas given to settlers of the region by the Mexican government in 
1795 and again in 1835. After the Mexican-American War, the land grant 
was upheld and the name endured. See Gudde, California Place Names, 304.

“Nearly one hundred adults, with some forty children, found 
their way in di�erent parties, chie�y in 1848–50, to Utah.”70

In the History of San Joaquin County, the settlement of 
New Hope is called Stanislaus City.

From an Old MS
William Glover,71 one of the members of the Brooklyn com-
pany, states in his “Mormons in California” MS:

“�e company was broken up, and everyone went to work to 
make an out�t to go to the valley as best he could. �e land, 
the oxen, the crop, the houses, tools, and launch all went into 
Brannan’s hands, and the company that did the work never 
got anything.”72

In An Illustrated History of San Joaquin County, pub-
lished by the Lewis Publishing Company in 1890, the fol-
lowing occurs:

“�ere is one account very explicit as to the settlement of Mor-
mons in Castoria Township in 1846. It is probably correct, al-
though we do not �nd it elsewhere. It must be given as a part 

70. Bancroft, History of California, vol. 5, 1846–1848, 554.
71. William Glover (1813–92) was a member of the Latter-day Saint Brooklyn 

company that sailed from New York to California in 1846. He settled in 
the San Joaquin Valley before moving to Salt Lake City in 1849. He wrote 
a manuscript of his experiences in California, Mormons in California, which 
was later published in 1954. See Bitton, Guide to Mormon Diaries and 
Autobiographies, 123.

72. Glover, Mormons in California, 21.
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the enterprise was abandoned. Mr. Buckland,74 who afterwards 
built Buckland House in San Francisco, was the last of the little 
colony to leave the place. [William H.] Fairchilds, afterwards 
county supervisor, moved him to Stockton in 1847.

�e Gold Excitement
“�e balance of the colony had gone to the lower country; but 
when the gold excitement broke out, they concentrated at what 
is known as Mormon Island and worked the mines, depositing 
their dust with Samuel Brannan, ‘in the name of the Lord’; and 
when they wanted their money it is said he told them he would 
be happy to honor their check signed by the Lord and until this 
was done he should keep the deposit secure.

“Subsequently in the early settlement of Stockton, a small 
company of Mormons settled near the bulkhead of Mormon 
Channel, and after them the channel was named. Somewhat 
corroborative of this account of the settlement of Castoria 
Township, it is known that in 1846 eighty acres of land were 
sown in that township, but there was no yield. . . .75

“In May 1851, Henry Grissim took up the land abandoned 
by the Mormons, not supposing he was ranching the lost site 
of Stanislaus City, the name given by the Mormons to their 

74. Alondas De Lafayette Buckland (1823–54) was a member of the Latter-day 
Saint Brooklyn company that sailed from New York to California in 1846. 
In 1848, during the California gold rush, he built the Buckland House in 
San Francisco, a four-story hotel to house incoming gold-seekers. He trav-
eled with his family to Salt Lake City, in 1849 and died of cholera while 
returning from service in the Eastern States Mission in 1854. See Sharon 
Hu�, “Hannah Daggett Buckland, 1802–1881,” typescript, March 1993, 
Church History Library, pp. 11–15.

75. Illustrated History of San Joaquin County, 32–33.

�e author states that this was the �rst permanent set-
tlement in the valley, as [�omas] Lindsay’s house had been 
burned and he killed; but it can hardly be regarded as perma-
nent from what follows. �e account continues:

Wildlife Aplenty
“�e valley was �lled at this time with wild horses, elk, and ante-
lope, which went in droves by thousands. Deer were very plenti-
ful. �e ground was covered with geese and the lakes and rivers 
with ducks, and the willow swamps along the riverbanks were 
�lled with grizzly bears. �e paths of the bears were as much 
worn and well de�ned as the paths of the horses and cattle. A 
bear’s path can never be mistaken; they travel with their legs 
apart, and in going over a road a thousand times they invari-
ably step in the same place, so that a regular grizzly bear’s path 
is nothing but two parallel lines of holes worn in the ground. 
Bear oil took the place of lard in cooking. �e only provisions 
sent for the colony were unground wheat, sugar, and co�ee. 
All else had to be procured by the ri�e. �ey had a mill with 
steel plates instead of burrs, driven with a crank by hand. �e 
wheat was cut or ground up in this way, but not bolted; every 
man had to grind his own supply and do his own cooking. �e 
winter of 1846–47 was very wet and stormy. In consequence 
of the rain, the river rose very rapidly—eight feet an hour on 
the perpendicular was marked. About the middle of January 
1847, the river over�owed its banks and the whole country was 
under water for miles in every direction. �e San Joaquin River 
was three miles wide opposite Corral Hollow. After digging 
their �rst meager crop of potatoes, which were mostly rotten, 
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City, by others New Hope. Setting up a small sawmill, they 
sawed out shingles and �oor timbers from the large oak trees 
in the vicinity and built a log cabin. �en, enclosing about 
eighty acres of land with fence built of oak logs covered with 
brushwood, they planted the ground to wheat. �e land was all 
sown in wheat by January 1847. �ey also raised a considerable 
variety of vegetables and irrigated the soil by means of ditches, 
drawing water from the river by the primitive method of a pole 
and bucket.

“‘�ey also sowed,’ said Carson, ‘a red top grass, the best the 
farmer can sow in the Tulare Valley, as it forms excellent pas-
ture during the year and when cut equals the best red clover. 
It can now be seen where it has spread from the Stanislaus to 
French Camp above Stockton.’

“�eir only provisions were whole wheat, co�ee, and sugar. 
�ey had, however, a small hand mill, and any man, if he so 
desired, could grind his wheat to coarse �our. �ey also had 
plenty of ammunition and �rearms, and there was plenty of game 
for the killing. Each man was compelled to do his own cooking.”

Samuel Brannan, in writing to a friend on January 1847, said:

“‘We have commenced a settlement on the Stanislaus River, a 
large and beautiful stream emptying into the Bay of San Fran-
cisco.’ His settlement, however, did not long continue. Some 
say the Mormons were there only one year, others three or four 
years. �eir manager was a man named �omas Stout,77 who 
was disliked by all the party. Quarreling with him one day the 

77. Likely referring to William Stout.

locality; he in turn sold to William H. Lyon, and Lyon sold to 
H. B. Underhill.

“Succeeding the trappers in 1845 came the Mormon set-
tlement on the Stanislaus River (in 1846), their abandonment 
in 1847, the discovery of gold in January 1848, and the estab-
lishment of Doak and Bonsell’s Ferry in the fall of that year; 
and in August 1849 Colonel P. W. Noble and [Jonathan D.] 
Stevenson took possession of the old French campground. �ey 
kept a public house as well as a store. . . . �ese gentlemen were 
the �rst white men to occupy any portion of Castoria after the 
abandonment of the Mormons.”76

In the History of Stanislaus County, by George H. 
Tinckham, published by the Historic Record Company, in 
Los Angeles, California, in 1921, the following paragraph on 
New Hope appears:

“Stanislaus City Founded—About thirty of the Mormons, 
under instructions from Samuel Brannan, sailed up the San 
Joaquin River in a little schooner and landed at a point near 
Mossdale, the Southern Paci�c Railroad bridge. �ey brought 
with them in the vessel provisions su�cient to last for two years, 
a wagon, agricultural implements, and various kinds of seed.

An Irrigated Tract
“Traveling overland across San Joaquin County, they located 
on the north bank of the Stanislaus, about 1½ miles from its 
mouth. �ere they founded a city called by some Stanislaus 

76. Illustrated History of San Joaquin County, 205.
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In company with Elder Hanson, I crossed the bay to 
Oakland, where I attended Sunday School and afterwards 
visited Elder Elbert D. �omas83 and family from Salt Lake 
City, at Berkeley. �ere are about one thousand Latter-day 
Saints in Oakland and vicinity, and in the spring a �ne chapel, 
or church, which has cost about $38,000, will be dedicated 
in Oakland.84 Elder William A. McDonald,85 late of Arizona, 
presides over the Oakland Branch,86 which is a growing and 
lively organization. Many of the Saints at Oakland and vicin-
ity hail from Utah and Idaho, and among the brethren there 
are a number of mechanics who have come to California to 

February 14, 1922, and returned on March 7, 1924. See Missionary Record 
Index, Church History Library.

83. Elbert Duncan �omas (1883–1953) served as president of the Japanese 
Mission, 1909–12. He later became an instructor of ancient languages 
at the University of Utah and a teaching fellow in political science at the 
University of California, 1922–24. See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 
4:227.

84. �e Oakland Branch chapel was dedicated on May 13, 1923, by President 
Heber J. Grant and was located at the corner of MacArthur Boulevard 
and Webster Street in Oakland. See Muir, Mormon Activities in California, 
1:188.

85. Wallace Aird MacDonald (1887–1970) was an artist and reporter for sev-
eral newspapers in San Francisco, including the Daily News, Bulletin, and 
Call. He served as president of the Oakland Branch (1920–27) and as 
president of the San Francisco Stake (1927–34). See Jenson, Biographical 
Encyclopedia, 4:153.

86. �e Oakland Branch was organized on Sunday, October 2, 1892. At the 
time of Jenson’s visit in 1923, it was part of the San Francisco Conference in 
the California Mission. It became the Oakland Ward in 1927. See Oakland 
Branch Manuscript History and Historical Reports, LR 6358 2, Church 
History Library. See also Muir, Mormon Activities in California, 1:107, 
185–88.

colony later voted to leave the place. One of the last Mormons 
to leave the locality was a man named Buckland, who later built 
the Buckland House in San Francisco.”78

It stands to reason that our California historians have 
made mistakes in their narratives, but they are in the main 
correct. We have material at the Church Historian’s O�ce 
which will adjust all di�erences.

“Jenson’s Travels,” January 28, 192379

San Francisco, California

Sunday, January 28. Having spent the night on the 
bay sailing from Stockton to San Francisco, I arrived at the 
latter city early in the morning, where I found Elder Isaac 
E. Riddle,80 president of the San Francisco Conference81 of 
the California Mission; Elder Alonzo L. Hanson82 and other 
elders; and also two missionary sisters.

78. Tinkham, History of Stanislaus County, 41.
79. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, March 17, 1923, 7.
80. Isaac Ervin Riddle (1894–1979) of the Cowley Ward in the Big Horn Stake 

was set apart as a missionary to California on May 3, 1921, and returned on 
February 8, 1923. See Missionary Record Index, Church History Library.

81. �e San Francisco Conference of the California Mission was organized in 
1855. At the time of Jenson’s visit in 1923, it covered much of northwestern 
California, including Alameda, Contro, Costa, Humboldt, Marin, Napa, 
San Francisco, San Mateo, Solano, and Sonoma. See Jenson, Encyclopedic 
History of the Church, 771.

82. Alonzo Leroy Hanson (1897–1987) of the Ephraim North Ward in 
the South Sanpete Stake was set apart as a missionary to California on 
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President Joseph W. McMurrin (second row, fourth from the right) with missionaries serving in the California Mission, ca. 1923. Church History Library.



CHAPTER 154

South America and also spent some time perusing records 
regarding the activities of the Latter-day Saints in California 
in early days. In the evening I attended a meeting of the priest-
hood of the San Francisco Branch,90 over which a local elder 
(Brother Storey)91 acts as president.

While the Latter-day Saints do not seek for the applause 
of the world, it is nevertheless pleasing to us to hear honorable 
men of the earth speak well of our people when they mean 
what they say, and we deserve their praise; and as the Latter-
day Saints were privileged to take a most prominent part in 
introducing Anglo-Saxon civilization in California, we are 
grateful to certain California historians who have endeavored 
to do us justice.

In the history of San Francisco by John P. Young, pub-
lished in San Francisco in 1912, it is stated that Yerba Buena 
had 200 people in the midsummer of 1846, indi�erently 
accommodated in forty to �fty houses. A year later the town, 
which then had become San Francisco, had 459 residents; of 
this number, 375 were whites, most of whom were Latter-day 
Saints who had just arrived from the eastern states in the 

90. �e San Francisco Branch was organized on Sunday, August 6, 1893. At the 
time of Jenson’s visit in 1923, it was part of the San Francisco Conference in 
the California Mission. It became the San Francisco Ward in 1927. See San 
Francisco Branch Manuscript History and Historical Reports, LR 7921 
2, Church History Library. See also Muir, Mormon Activities in California, 
178.

91. Joseph Oakes Storey (1877–1949), a construction supervisor by trade, 
served as president of the San Francisco Branch, 1921–27. Storey “resigned” 
as president of the branch when it was divided into the Sunset Ward and 
San Francisco Ward in April 1927. See San Francisco Branch Manuscript 
History and Historical Reports, LR 7921 2, Church History Library.

seek employment. I returned to San Francisco in the after-
noon and, together with Elder Richard R. Lyman,87 who 
was visiting California in the interest of Boy Scout work, I 
preached at the Saints’ hall on Hayes Street in the evening.88 
We had a good and well-attended meeting. �ere are at pres-
ent about six hundred Saints in San Francisco and vicinity, 
and half a dozen elders from Zion and two missionary sisters 
are at present endeavoring to promulgate the principles of the 
gospel in the metropolis of Northern California.

Ever since the arrival of the ship Brooklyn in San Francisco 
Bay July 11, 1846, there have been Latter-day Saints in 
California, and there never were as many Saints in San 
Francisco and Oakland and vicinity as there are at the present 
time.89 As in Oakland, many of the members of the Church 
in San Francisco were formerly residents of Utah, Idaho, and 
other intermountain states.

Perusing Records
Monday, January 29. I attended to business in San 

Francisco pertaining to our contemplated trip to Central and 

87. Richard Roswell Lyman (1870–1963) served as a member of the Quorum 
of the Twelve Apostles, 1918–43. Prior to becoming an Apostle, Lyman 
worked as a professor of civil engineering at the University of Utah (1896–
1918) and as vice chairman of the Utah State Road Commission (1909–18). 
He married Amy Brown (1872–1959), who later became the eighth general 
president of the Relief Society (1940–45). Lyman was excommunicated in 
1943 and rebaptized in 1954. See Jenson, Biographical Encyclopedia, 3:756.

88. �e Latter-day Saints rented a hall for worship services at 1649 Hayes Street 
in San Francisco, 1919–25. See Muir, Mormon Activities in California, 178.

89. For further information regarding Mormonism in California, see Cowan 
and Homer, California Saints.
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great extent and widely separated. Boats manned by Indians 
came down the creeks from the missions with their loads of 
hides and tallow for the ships anchored in Yerba Buena Cove. 
�e growth of the little settlement was slow, and in 1844 it 
contained only a dozen houses and not over �fty permanent 
inhabitants.

“In 1839, Governor Alvarado ordered a survey of Yerba Buena, 
and the alcalde,93 Francisco de Haro, employed Jean Jacques 
Vioget, a Swiss sailor and surveyor, to do the work, which was 
completed in the fall of that year. Vioget’s survey laid out the 
blocks between Paci�c, California, Montgomery, and Dupont 
Streets and shows Dupont Street intersected at Clay by the 
Calle de la Fundacion, which branched o� to the northwest 
towards the ‘Puerto suelo.’ Montgomery Street is interrupted 
at Clay Street by a lagoon that occupied portions of the two 
Montgomery Street blocks between Clay and Paci�c Streets. 
On the south, Montgomery Street was again interrupted by 
a freshwater pond (Laguna Dulce) at the foot of Sacramento 
Street, which was supplied by a stream that ran down Sacra-
mento Street from above Powell. No names were given to the 
streets, and the cross streets were 2½ degrees from a right angle. 
Down to 1846, lots were granted by Vioget’s map, and lots pre-
viously granted were made to conform to it. No street improve-
ments were attempted, the line of streets being merely indicated 
by buildings and fences.”94

93. Alcalde is the Spanish term for “mayor” or “ justice of the peace.” See Gooch 
and García de Paredes, Cassell’s Spanish Dictionary, 34.

94. Eldredge, Beginnings of San Francisco, 511–12.

ship Brooklyn under the leadership of Samuel Brannan. �e 
remainder was Sandwich Islanders, Indians, and Negroes. 
Of the whites, 268 were adults. �e 107 children were made 
up of 51 under �ve years of age, 32 who were between �ve 
and ten, and 24 between �fteen and twenty. Of Indians there 
were 34, and they, like the 10 Negroes, were chie�y in domes-
tic service. �e 40 Sandwich Islanders were almost all sailors, 
Captain [William] Richardson and the few others engaged 
in transportation �nding them the only material available 
for that purpose. �e larger part of the addition during the 
�rst year of American occupation was made up of whites born 
in the United States. �ere were 228 who called themselves 
Americans, 38 Californians, 2 from the Mexican departments, 
5 Canadians, 2 Chileans, 22 Englishmen, 3 Frenchmen, 27 
Germans, 14 Irish, 14 Scotch, 6 Swiss, 4 born at sea; and Peru, 
Poland, Russia, Sweden, the West Indies, Denmark, New 
Holland, and New Zealand had one representative each.92

A Vast Solitude
In a work entitled �e Beginnings of San Francisco, by Zoeth 
Skinner Eldredge, published in 1912 in San Francisco, the 
following is to be found: “In the year 1835, the Bay of San 
Francisco was a vast solitude through whose bordering groves 
ranged the red deer, the elk, and the antelope, while bears 
and panthers and other ferocious beasts frequented the hills 
and often descended upon the scattered farmyards. �e �ve 
mission establishments in its vicinity did not contain above 
two hundred white inhabitants, while the few ranches were of 

92. Young, San Francisco, 112.
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was destined to be the New York of the Paci�c. �e California 
Star estimated the population in June 1847 at 449, exclusive of 
the New York volunteers, and the number of buildings was 187, 
half of which had been erected during the past four months. 
Before the gold excitement had begun to depopulate the town 
in May and June 1848, the number of inhabitants had increased 
to about 850 and that of buildings to two hundred. [. . .]

“�e �rst newspaper in California appeared in Monterey 
August 15, 1846, edited by Walter Colton and Robert Semple 
and called the Californian. A portion of its contents was printed in 
Spanish. �e printing apparatus was an old press and type belong-
ing to the Mexican government at Monterey, which had not been 
in use for several years so that the type had to be scoured and rules 
and leads made from tin plates. �e paper was the Spanish fools-
cap used for o�cial correspondence. It appeared every Saturday 
until May 1847, when it was transferred to San Francisco and 
later merged in the California Star.96 Sam Brannan, Mormon chief 
and elder, a printer by trade, had published for several years in 
New York a Church organ called the Prophet.97 He brought with 

96. �e California Star was the �rst newspaper in San Francisco and the sec-
ond in California, published by Samuel Brannan after he arrived from New 
York on the ship Brooklyn. �e Star ran from January 1847 to November 
1848. While Brannan planned to publish a Latter-day Saint–oriented 
newspaper upon arrival, he decided to broaden the audience and print the 
California Star as a general, non-Church-a�liated weekly, since the only 
other newspaper was distributed over one hundred miles to the south. See 
Crawley, Descriptive Bibliography of the Mormon Church, 1:356.

97. �e Prophet was a Latter-day Saint weekly printed in New York City for 
the Eastern States Mission. �e purpose of the newspaper was to promote 
the teachings of the Latter-day Saints and to report on other local, national, 
and international news. It ran from May 18, 1844, to May 24, 1845, most 
of the time with Samuel Brannan as editor and publisher. Elder Parley P. 

�e foregoing describes Yerba Buena before the arrival of 
the Brooklyn. Mr. Eldredge continued his narrative as follows:

Project Abandoned
“On July 31, 1846, the ship Brooklyn arrived from New York, 
with about two hundred Mormons in charge of elder Samuel 
Brannan. �ey had sailed from New York February 4, and 
June 20 they were at Honolulu, where they met Commodore 
[Robert F.] Stockton, about to sail for Monterey. Surmising 
that California would soon be occupied by the United States 
and not knowing what they might �nd there, Brannan bought in 
Honolulu 150 stands of arms and drilled the men of his company 
on the way over. He had announced to Brigham Young before 
sailing that he would select the most suitable site on the Bay of 
San Francisco for the location of a commercial city, but �nding 
the United States in possession, the project was abandoned.

“�e landing of the Mormons more than doubled the popu-
lation of Yerba Buena. �ey camped for a time on the beach and 
on the vacant lots, and then some went to the Marin forests95 
to work as lumbermen; some were housed in the old mission 
buildings and others in Richardson’s “Casa Grande” (big house) 
on Dupont Street. �ey were an honest and industrious people, 
and all sought work wherever they could �nd it. [. . .] �e Fourth 
of July 1847 was celebrated in San Francisco with appropriate 
ceremonies. [. . .] �e population of the town had increased over 
100 percent during the twelve months following the American 
occupation, and the opinion was expressed that San Francisco 

95. Marin is a county along the Paci�c Coast in northwestern California. See 
Geographical Dictionary, 709.
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tribute a lot and �fty dollars in money towards the erection of 
a schoolhouse. In April 1847, J.  D. Marston opened a private 
school in a shanty on the west side of Dupont Street between 
Broadway and Paci�c. �is was the �rst school in San Francisco 
and was attended by some twenty or thirty children. It lasted but 
a few months. At a meeting of the council September 24, 1847, 
Leidesdor�,98 William Glover (Latter-day Saint and member of 
the Brooklyn company), and William S. Clark99 were appointed a 
committee to attend to the building of a schoolhouse. �e build-
ing was erected on the western side of the plaza, and on April 3, 
1848, the school was opened under �omas Douglas, a graduate 
of 98Yale College. 99�e school prospered until the gold excitement 
carried teacher and trustees to the mines. From the date of its 
completion in December 1847, the schoolhouse served the pur-
pose of town hall, courthouse, people’s court for trial of culprits 
by the �rst vigilance committee, school, church, and, �nally, jail. 
Owing to the range and variety of its uses, the building was digni-
�ed by the name of Public Institute. [. . .] From the second Sunday 
after their arrival at San Francisco (Yerba Buena), the Mormons 
held religious services in Captain Richardson’s “Casa Grande” on 

98. William Alexander Leidesdor� Jr. (1810–48) was a pioneer settler of 
Northern California, member of the original town council and school 
board of Yerba Buena, vice consul to Mexico, and successful entrepreneur 
in the hotel and shipping businesses. See Ingham, Biographical Dictionary of 
American Business Leaders, 2:787.

99. William Squire Clark Sr. (1807–89) was a pioneer settler of Northern 
California, member of the original town council of Yerba Buena, and 
cofounder of the Calvary Presbyterian Church in San Francisco. See Hart, 
Clark’s Point, 10–25.

him on to the Brooklyn the press and out�t of his paper, and on 
January 9, 1847, he published in San Francisco, then called Yerba 
Buena, the �rst number of the weekly California Star, with Elbert P. 
Jones as temporary editor, succeeded later by Edward C. Kemble. 
It was a sheet of 8½ x 12 inches of print. �e paper was temporar-
ily suspended during the gold excitement in the summer of 1848, 
but from November of that year, the publication was regular. It 
had been slightly enlarged in January 1848, when publication was 
resumed, but in November of that year, Kemble bought out the 
Californian (formerly published in Monterey) and consolidated 
it with his own paper under the name of the California Star and 
Californian. In January 1849, the name was changed to the Alta 
California, with Edward Gilbert as editor, and Kemble proprietor. 
�e Alta California became a great daily and was published contin-
uously until June 2, 1891, when it was suspended. Kemble came 
with Brannan on the Brooklyn, though he was not a Mormon. He 
took an active part in the politics of the town and was connected 
with the paper until he went east in 1855.

Educational Matters
“Soon after the American occupation, educational matters began 
to engage the attention of the people. �e California Star of 
January 16, 1847, urged the importance of establishing a school 
for the children of the rapidly growing town and o�ered to con-

Pratt (1807–57), member of the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles, arrived 
in New York City on assignment and changed the name of the newspaper 
to the New-York Messenger. It ran under the new title from July 5, 1845, to 
December 15, 1845. See Crawley, Descriptive Bibliography of the Mormon 
Church, 1:256, 306.
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Duncan McFarlane, The Ship Brooklyn. Church History Library.
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quite satis�ed with my day’s work. �e following items repre-
sent a small part of the information obtained: In the Monterey 
Californian (the �rst newspaper published in California) of 
Saturday, August 15, 1846, the following appears:

“�e Brooklyn with 170 Mormon immigrants on board arrived 
at San Francisco on the third instant in thirty days from 
Honolulu. �ese immigrants are a plain, industrious people; 
most of them are mechanics and farmers.”105

�ree weeks later the editor had become better posted as 
to the number of immigrants. Hence, in the Californian of 
September 5, 1846, under the heading “Marine Intelligence,” 
the following was published: “Arrivals—July 31 (1846) 
American ship Brooklyn 230 passengers from New York via 
Sandwich Islands, landed passengers and freight, and sailed for 
Bodega, and will touch at Monterey.”

�e Reverend Walter Colton, USN [United States 
Navy], who navigated in the United States frigate Congress 
(Commodore Stockton, commander), wrote in a book entitled 
Deck and Port (published in New York in 1856), “�e Congress 
touched at Honolulu in January 1846.” Under date of Sunday, 
June 25, 1846, Mr. Colton writes: “We left at Honolulu the 
American ship Brooklyn with 175 (230) Mormon immigrants 
on board bound for Monterey and San Francisco, where they 
propose to settle. �ey look to us for protection and expect to 
land if necessary, under our batteries. I spent the greater part of 
a day among them and must say I was much pleased with their 
deportment. �e greater portion of them are young, and have 
been trained to habits of industry, frugality, and enterprise. 

105.  “Items,” Californian, August 15, 1846, 3.

Dupont Street,100 where Sam Brannan exhorted the Saints to 
remain faithful in this land of Gentiles, but some twenty of them 
‘went astray after strange gods,’ as did their eminent leader101 a few 
years later.”102

“Jenson’s101Travels,” January10230, 1923103

San Francisco, California

Tuesday, January 30. I spent most of the day at the public 
library in San Francisco,104 looking up historical data concern-
ing the ship Brooklyn, the Mormon Battalion, etc., and was 

100. William Richardson (1795–1856) was the founder of Yerba Buena, pres-
ent-day San Francisco. He was deeded sizable tracts of land by Mexican 
government o�cials and built a large, elaborate, adobe home, known as the 
Casa Grande. It was the largest building in the town of Yerba Buena, 1836–
48. It was demolished in 1852. Abeloe, Historic Spots in California, 352.

101. Samuel Brannan’s apostasy was a gradual process, dating back to nearly his 
conversion in 1833. He became inactive during the splintering years of the 
Church in Kirtland, Ohio (1836–38) and was disfellowshipped for support-
ing William Smith’s claims to the Presidency of the Church (1844). After 
being reinstated, sent to the West Coast on the ship Brooklyn, and made 
a leader over the Mormon colonies in California, Brannan considered the 
Golden State the ideal location for Church headquarters and tried unsuc-
cessfully to convince Brigham Young to move the Salt Lake City–based 
faith to Northern California. He eventually accumulated much wealth as 
a successful businessman, but he was disfellowshipped in 1851 for refusing 
to share his earnings through tithing to the Church and for other “unchris-
tianlike conduct.” See Campbell, “Apostasy of Samuel Brannan,” 156–67.

102. Eldredge, Beginnings of San Francisco, 543–44, 564–65, 586–89.
103. Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, March 24, 1923, 5.
104. Jenson met up with Page in the morning and learned that he had secured 

passage to Panama, stopping in several Central American countries, for 
$675.60. See Jenson diary, January 30, 1923, 273.



CHAPTER 160

�ey chartered their vessel, for which they pay twelve hundred 
dollars per month. It will cost them for their passage alone some 
ten thousand dollars before they disembark in California.”108

Yerba Buena
William Antonio Richardson—an Englishman by birth, who 
as a young man of twenty-two had reached Alta, California, 
in 1822 as mate of a British ship, which he deserted—was 
appointed by the noted Jose Tigueron (governor and one of 
the greatest men in the history of Alta, California) as captain 
of the port of San Francisco. Richardson went there in 1835 
and put up the �rst building (a rude structure on the beach) 
on the present site of San Francisco—other than those at the 
less conveniently located presidio and mission. Around this 
house as a nucleus, a settlement called Yerba Buena sprang up, 
where the shipping and business interests of the bay region 
centered, eventually to become the principal district of the 
city of San Francisco. (A History of California, by Charles E. 
Chapman, published in New York, 1921.)109

In 1836, Jacob P. Leese built a comfortable frame house 
near Richardson’s. As time went on, Leese added a store 
and made the place something of a trading center for ships 
taking on wood and water across the bay at Sausalito. In 
1841, however, Leese sold his property to the Hudson’s Bay 
Company,110 which thereafter for four or �ve years became 

108.  Colton, Deck and Port, 369–71.
109.  See Chapman, History of California, 466.
110.  �e Hudson’s Bay Company was an English exploration venture with the 

purpose of �nding additional shipping routes and new sources of miner-

Some have been recently married and are accompanied by their 
parents. �ey are mostly from the Methodist and Baptist per-
suasions. �eir Mormonism, so far as they have any, has been 
superinduced on their previous faith, as Millerism106 on the 
belief of some Christians. �ey are rigidly strict in their domes-
tic morals, have their morning and evening prayers; and the 
wind and the weather have never suspended, during their long 
voyage, their exercises of devotion.”107

Under date of June 27, 1846, the Reverend Mr. Colton 
journalized as follows:

“We have at last a slant of wind which has put us on our 
course. �e Mormon ship must make haste if she expects to 
overtake us before we reach Monterey. It is a little singular that, 
with a company of 170 (230) immigrants con�ned in a vessel of 
only four hundred tons depending on each other’s activity and 
forbearance for comfort, unbroken harmony should have pre-
vailed. �ey have had their momentary jars, but I was assured 
by the captain, who is not of their persuasion, that no serious 
discord has occurred. �ey put their money into a joint stock, 
laid in their own provisions, and have everything in common. 

106.  Millerism refers to the followers of William Miller (1782–1849), who 
believed in the Second Advent of Jesus Christ in the 1840s. After Miller’s 
predictions came to naught in 1844, his followers dispersed, some still 
looking to the coming of Christ but avoiding date setting. See Weber, 

“Millennialism and Apocalypticism,” in Boyer, Oxford Companion to United 
States History, 503–4.

107.  Colton, Deck and Port, 369.
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the Portsmouth, then lying in the harbor, as well as in the village. 
It was observed, however, that the stranger was not a warship 
and that it �ew the American �ag. As it drew nearer, it could be 
seen that its deck was crowded with men, women, and children. 
In a short time the mystery was explained. �e ship proved to be 
the Brooklyn, and the passengers were a colony of 238 Mormon 
immigrants. �ey had left New York in February under the 
direction of the leaders of their church. [. . .] �e men were as 
a class industrious and steady, good mechanics and good farm-
ers and well supplied with implements and tools for making a 
new settlement. �eir leader was Samuel Brannan. He was a 
native of Maine, born in 1819, had been a printer by trade, and 
was of a speculative mind. In 1842 he joined the Mormons and 
published a newspaper devoted to the interests of the sect in 
New York. In the winter of 1845–46, he took hold energeti-
cally of the project of founding a Mormon colony on the Bay 
of San Francisco, and the result was the chartering, freighting, 
and sailing of the ship Brooklyn, a vessel of 370 tons, which had 
been �tted up for the purpose of carrying the immigrants. It 
was well provided with everything that was deemed necessary 
for the proposed colony; and, among other things, Brannan 
brought along a printing press, type, paper, ink, and composi-
tors. �e Mormons landed at Yerba Buena, pitched their tents 
on the sand hills around the village, and in a short time built 
a number of houses and shops. Brannan himself set up his 
press in September and did job printing work. In October he 
announced the publication of a weekly newspaper and issued 
an extra in advance of it, containing General [Zachary] Taylor’s 
o�cial report of the battles of Palo Alto and Resaco de la 

the chief factor in the commercial life of the little village. 
Yerba Buena was seized by the Americans July 8, 1846.111 �e 
Brooklyn arrived July 31, 1846. In the spring of 1847, the name 
of Yerba Buena was changed to San Francisco.

With the American occupation, Yerba Buena rapidly 
began to increase its scant population, and by the spring of 
1848, it could boast nearly nine hundred inhabitants. (Robert 
Glass Cleland’s A History of California.)112

In the History of California by �eodore H. Hittell, the 
following paragraph appears:

“On July 31, 1846, there was a large and unexpected accession 
to the population (of California). A strange vessel was reported 
coming in through the Golden Gate;113 and for a while there 
was much excitement and agitation in reference to it on board 

als, whalebone, and other objects for trade. See Gough, “Hudson’s Bay 
Company” in Buisseret, Oxford Companion to World Exploration, 1:391–92.

111.  �ree weeks prior to the arrival of the ship Brooklyn from New York, and 
after the Battle of Monterey in the Mexican-American War on July 7, 1846, 
Commodore John Drake Sloat (1781–1867) of the US Navy proclaimed 
California territory to be part of the United States. Two days later, on July 
9, Commodore Sloat gave orders to Captain John Berrien Montgomery 
of the USS Portsmouth to seize Yerba Buena, present-day San Francisco. 
When the Brooklyn arrived in Northern California on July 29, Captain 
Montgomery boarded the ship and told the passengers that they were in 
United States territory, and the emigrants responded with hearty cheers. 
See Bancroft, History of California, vol. 5, 1846–1848, 551. See also Roberts, 
Comprehensive History of the Church, 3:25.

112.  See Cleland, History of California, 284.
113.  �e Golden Gate is a narrow strait that connects the Paci�c Ocean with 

the San Francisco Bay. See Geographical Dictionary, 433.



CHAPTER 162

and the breaking up and dissolution of the Mormon association 
of which he was the head.”115

While the statements in the foregoing are perhaps some-
what overdrawn, they are in the main correct.116

“Jenson’s Travels,” February 1, 1923117

On board the steamship Colombia, Pacific Ocean

Wednesday, January 31. At 1:00 p.m. we sailed from San 
Francisco as passengers on board the steamship Colombia118 
on our way to South America. �e day was one of sunshine 
and �ne weather, and after passing out through the Golden 
Gate we soon found ourselves on the broad face of the Paci�c 
Ocean and sailing southward along the hilly or mountainous 

115.  Hittell, History of California, 2:593–96.
116.  Jenson and Page spent the evening with Carl Kjær (1889–1946), who 

served as a missionary to Scandinavia (1909–11) while Jenson served as 
mission president (1909–12). Jenson wrote: “We spent a most pleasant eve-
ning with him and family. �ey live at Ingleside about eight miles out of the 
San Francisco center.” See Jenson diary, January 30, 1923, 274.

117.  Jenson, “Jenson’s Travels,” Deseret News, March 31, 1923, 7.
118.  �e SS Colombia was a steamer of the Royal Dutch Mail Company (1892–

1915) and Panama Mail Steamship Company (1915–19). In 1919, it was 
sold to the Paci�c Mail Steamship Company, a United States–based postal 
delivery and passenger transportation enterprise. It became a sister ship of 
the SS Ecuador and the SS Venezuela, and all three were regularly sailed 
from New York, Los Angeles, or San Francisco to Panama (1919–25). See 
Smith, Passenger Ships of the World, 301–2, 379.

Palma. On January 9, 1847, appeared the �rst regular issue of 
the newspaper itself, which was called the California Star. In 
the meanwhile the failure of the primary object of the colony in 
establishing a settlement exclusively Mormon, and the new and 
promising career opened in Brannan’s speculative mind by the 
aspect of a�airs in California, led to disagreements, and these 
disagreements �nally led to irreconcilable quarrels.

“In 1848, after the discovery of gold and while the Saints in 
California were very successfully engaged in laying up earthly 
treasures, if not heavenly ones, at Mormon Island, Brannan 
assumed the right as high priest of the Church to exact the pay-
ment of tithes and in this manner collected a large amount of 
money. �ere was much dissatisfaction with his proceedings 
on the part of some, who were perhaps not entirely orthodox or 
who rather had not entire faith in Brannan, and, among others, 
on the part of William S. Clark, a prominent San Franciscan, 
from whom Clark’s Point derived its name. In July 1848, when 
Governor Mason visited the mines and stopped on his way at 
Mormon Island, Clark, in the course of conversation, inquired, 
‘Governor, what business has Sam Brannan to collect tithes 
here?’ Mason answered, ‘Brannan has a perfect right to collect 
the tax, if you Mormons are fools enough to pay it.’ ‘�en,’ said 
Clark, ‘I, for one, won’t pay it any longer.’ From that time the 
payment of tithes ceased; but Brannan had already collected 
enough to lay the foundation of a large fortune.114 He was not 
disposed to recognize the claims of the Church as owner of this 
wealth and the result was a lawsuit, the high priest’s apostasy, 

114.  See Sherman, Memoirs of General William T. Sherman, 47.
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dination, and general good conduct they were an exemplary body 
of men. �ey had religiously respected the rights and feelings of 
the conquered Californians, and not one syllable of complaint 
had ever reached his ears of a single insult o�ered or outrage 
done by a Mormon volunteer. So high an opinion in fact did he 
entertain of the battalion in general and of their especial �tness 
for the duties of garrisoning the country that he made strenuous 
e�orts to engage their services for another year. But the great 
mass of them desired to meet their brother and sister Saints on 
the shore of the Great Salt Lake; and only one company would 
consent to remain in service.”120

In order to show what the Californians think of Samuel 
Brannan, the following sketch of his life may prove interest-
ing reading:

�e Brooklyn Company
“Samuel Brannan, Mormon elder and chief of the ship Brooklyn 
company, was born in Saco, Maine, March 2, 1819. In 1833, he 
moved to Ohio, where he learned the trade of a printer, and 
for �ve years from 1837 visited most of the states of the Union 
as a journeyman printer. In 1842, he joined the Mormons and 

California, questioned the Mormon Battalion’s motives for reenlisting 
after their service had ended in a private letter to  Richard Barnes Mason 
(1797–1850), military governor of California, on July 23, 1847. Governor 
Mason, as Jenson points out, defended the Mormon Battalion. For further 
information, see Bigler and Bagley, Army of Israel, 269–70. See also Black, 

“Mormon Battalion,” 313–28.
120.  Hittell, History of California, 2:661–62.

coast of California. About 10:00 p.m. the lights of Monterey, 
the old capital of California, were visible from our ship.

Before leaving San Francisco, I obtained additional infor-
mation concerning matters associated with the history of the 
Latter-day Saints in California. �e following is selected:

In the History of California by �eodore H. Hittell (published 
in San Francisco in 1898), the following paragraph appears.

“Captain [Francis J.] Lippitt (commanding American soldiers 
in California) [. . .] seemed unable to restrain his soldiers, and 
their conduct became so disorderly that it was feared the peo-
ple would rise and put a violent stop to their excesses. [. . .] �e 
conduct of these soldiers compared very disadvantageously 
with that of the Mormon Battalion, which had followed 
[Stephen W.] Kearny across the continent and during the past 
year had been stationed at and in the neighborhood of San 
Diego. �eir term of o�ce expired on July 16, 1847, a few days 
previous to which they were marched up to Los Angeles to be 
honorably discharged.

“Notwithstanding the prejudices felt against them on account 
of their religious professions and notwithstanding Stevenson, 
who was in command at Los Angeles, imagined them to be 
engaged in a diabolical conspiracy to get military control of 
California—which notion he communicated in a private and 
con�dential letter—Mason (the governor of California) spoke of 
them in terms of high praise.119 He said that for patience, subor-

119.  Jonathan Drake Stevenson (1800–1894), a military commander during 
the Mexican-American War (1846–48) and early settler of Northern 
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A Leading Man
“Samuel Brannan preached on Sundays and during the week 
engaged in all sorts of business and political activities and was 
from the �rst a leading man in San Francisco. As a preacher 
he was �uent, terse, and vigorous, and he conducted the �rst 
Protestant service held in San Francisco, August 16, 1846, in 
Richardson’s casa grande (big house) on Dupont Street.

“In the spring of 1847, Brannan went east to meet Brigham 
Young and the main body of the Mormon migration. He 
met them in the Green River Valley and came on with them 
to Salt Lake. He was much displeased with their decision 
to remain and found a city in the Salt Lake Valley, and he 
returned to California.

“In 1847, Brannan established a store at Sutter’s Fort, or 
New Helvetia, and furnished on Sutter’s account the supplies 
for Marshall, Weimer, and Bennett, the men who were put-
ting up the mill for Sutter on the South Fork (of the American 
River); and after the discovery of gold, he put up a store at the 
mill, which he named Coloma, after the Indians who lived there, 
and also one at Mormon Island, which he named Natoma, after 
the name of the tribe there. A large number of Mormons were 
engaged in mining on the American River, and Brannan insisted 
on their paying over to him, as head of the Mormon Church in 
California, the 10 percent claimed by the Church. [. . .]

“�rough his mining operations at Mormon Island; the 
enormous pro�t of his stores at Sacramento, Natoma, and 
Coloma; and the increase in value of his real estate in San 
Francisco, Brannan became the richest man in California. 
�ere was scarcely an enterprise of moment in which he did not 

for several years published the New-York Messenger—later the 
Prophet, organs of the Mormon Church.121 Of the Mormon 
scheme to colonize California Brannan was an integral part, 
and he had charge of the New York end of it. In pursuance of 
the plan, Brannan chartered the ship Brooklyn, 370 tons, and 
sailed from New York February 4, 1846, for San Francisco, 
with 238 men, women, and children, the �rst installment 
of the Mormon colony. He brought his printing press, types, 
and a stock of paper; �our mill, machinery, plows, and other 
agricultural implements; and a great variety of articles such as 
would be useful in a new country. At Honolulu, where the ship 
arrived in July (June), Samuel Brannan purchased 150 stands 
of arms to provide for the probable chance of war between the 
United States and Mexico. On July 31 the Brooklyn arrived at 
San Francisco (Yerba Buena), and the passengers immediately 
landed and squatted among the sand hills on the beach. �ey 
were anxious to work and were ready to accept any that was 
o�ered; glad to make themselves useful—the women as well as 
the men—and a party of twenty was sent into the San Joaquin 
Valley to prepare for the great body of the Saints that were com-
ing overland. “On January 7, 1847, Brannan brought out the 
�rst number of the California Star, edited by Dr. E.  P. Jones, 
the second newspaper published in California, the �rst being 
the Californian, published by Walter Colton and Dr. Robert 
Semple, in Monterey.

121.  Apparently Eldredge confused the newspaper’s name change. It was orig-
inally published as �e Prophet (1844–45) and then changed to the New-
York Messenger (1845). See Crawley, Descriptive Bibliography of the Mormon 
Church, 1:306.
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were marred by the habit of drink to which he gave himself 
up and which greatly a�ected his excellent business faculty. 
Unlucky speculations made inroads upon his fortune, and 
his vast wealth melted away. He was divorced from his wife, 
whom he had married in 1844 and who came with him on the 
Brooklyn. About 1880 he obtained a grant of land in Sonora in 
return for help rendered the Mexican government during the 
French invasion,122 and thither he removed and embarked on 
a large colonization scheme; but his old-time energy was gone. 
He died in Escondido, Mexico, May 5, 1889.”123

122.  Referring to the Franco-Mexican War, 1861–67.
123.  Eldredge, Beginnings of San Francisco, 709–11.

�gure, and he was as famous for his charity and open-handed 
liberality as he was for his enterprise. He was straightforward 
in his dealing and had the respect and con�dence of the busi-
ness community. Mingling in California with men of a�airs, of 
education and re�nement, he abandoned the Mormon religion. 
In ridding San Francisco of the thieves, gamblers, and desper-
adoes that infested it, none was more active, outspoken, and 
fearless than Brannan, and he lashed the malefactors and their 
o�cial supporters with a vigor of vituperations that has rarely 
been equaled.

Later Reverses
“In company with Peter F. Burnett and Joseph W. Winans, he 
established in 1863 the �rst chartered commercial bank in 
California, the Paci�c Accumulation and Loan Society, the 
name being afterwards changed to Paci�c Bank. His later years 




